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For neither life nor nature cares if justice is ever done or not.


—PATRICIA HIGHSMITH









THE SYSTEM


In the United States, the term criminal justice system refers to the institutions through which an accused offender must pass—until the accusations are either dismissed or proven, and punishment is assessed and completed.


The system consists of three distinct entities:




1. Law enforcement, e.g., police and sheriffs.


2. Adjudication (courts), e.g., judges, prosecutors, defense lawyers, and clerks.


3. Corrections and supervision, e.g., jail or prison staff, probation officers, and parole agents.





They operate together in order to maintain the rule of law in civilized society.


[image: image]


When you are caught up in the system in Los Angeles County, you are at its mercy.


While in custody, your body is not your own. It belongs to the county.


Your necessities are county-issued. Your food. Your toothpaste. Even your clothes.


You sleep where they tell you to sleep. Get up when they tell you to get up.


If you or your family have no money for bail, you remain in jail until trial.


Depending on the backlog of pending cases, this can last months.


[image: image]


In 1993, California housed 15 percent of the U.S. jail population—more than any other state—and within its correctional institutions, a shift was occurring.


One that had been building for many years.


Organized prison gangs sought to direct the criminal activities of street gangs from behind bars, and as they became successful in doing so, power moved from the streets to jails and prisons.


These prison gangs offered an affiliation model, and its reasoning was simple: if they could control the environment behind bars—the worst possible consequence of criminal behavior—then they could control almost anyone, anywhere.


This is the story of one such crime—those accused of it, those who witnessed it, the law enforcement who investigated it, the lawyers who prosecuted and defended it, and those left behind on the outside.











PROLOGUE





THE ALIBI




and this is no dream


just my oily life


where the people are alibis


and the street is unfindable for an


entire lifetime.


 


—ANNE SEXTON, “45 MERCY STREET”












Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer


December 6, 1993 • 9:18 p.m.



Angela’s never sat me down and looked at me like I’m a problem she finally solved before. She hasn’t said anything yet, but I feel her words on their way to me like how I can feel a punch is coming. Inside, I’m already trying to get out of the way.


“This isn’t easy for me or anything,” she’s saying, and I know it’s the windup before she hits me with, “but I need you to move out, Jacob.”


That’s the knockout right there. It’s over. Done.


When Angela makes decisions, they stay made.


What she’s doing right now is dumping me and making me homeless in the same swoop, but all I can think of is how the microwave’s beeping. This new one I got off a homie last week. It’s from Japan. Good shit. Digital. It’s got this thing where it reminds you if you don’t get your food out. That’s what it’s doing right now with her macaronis. It’s beeped twice already. The sound of it reminds me how that monitor sounded on my homie before his heart just stopped.


Tiny Gangster, R.I.P. Southsider. A real Lynwood rider. Un matón grande.* Toughest fool I ever met. And remembering that mixes into right now, and this hot hard pain sticks in my chest. Like a fire rock.


Angela snaps her fingers in front of my eyes.


“Hello?” She’s getting heated. “You paying attention to me, or what?”


Beep.


I come back with, “Or what.”


She rolls her eyes at me. She used to love how I made her laugh. Now she’s got a look like me even trying is just . . . sad.


“You see how this isn’t working out, right? You get all immature when you should be serious. Is everything a joke with you? Cuz I need somebody who can be more than one thing, like somebody who can deal with real shit and be all romantic with me.”


“Listen.” I grab one of her hands. It’s cold. It don’t want to be between my palms, I can tell. “I can be better. I can be all that. Buy you flowers.”


Angela pulls her hand away. All I ever heard from homies is how she’s too good for me. How she’s older. How she’s the prettiest around by far. How she’s going places. Even Wizard says all that. Over time that messes with you. And I’m regretting ever leaving Little’s house, ever having that big-ass fight with his mamá about how I wasn’t ready for this type of thing yet. Living with a girl, at seventeen? She wasn’t about it. I did it anyways.


Beep.


I smile again. Not at her tho. At my feet this time. I talk at them too, like, “So, if all of a sudden I was serious, this wouldn’t go different?”


“No,” she says to me, “we already crossed those bridges.”


“So why you want me to be different when you’re pulling the plug?”


She’s leaning forward. She’s looking me hard in the eyes. “But is this you? Or is this just what your homies want from you?”


I kind of retreat, like, “Whatever.”


She ain’t letting it go. “Remember that time you got caught up moving those TVs?”


I got to trip on that for a second. It was after the riots. After I maybe helped burn down that Jack in the Box on MLK. There was a storage shed in the hood, one full of shit we’d rounded up. Homies were coming all hours to fill it. That was laughs.


She’s saying, “Remember how you acted like you could be the one to find a buyer since Jellybean wanted to see who’d step up? You came with this big smile like you could fix it.”


Shit. I remember. I tried to sell everything to this old Korean lady with an appliances shop on Long Beach and that lady called the sheriffs on my ass. What Angela’s not saying is how Wizard’s advice came in real good. Not having tattoos. Not being on a gang card. Not being photographed or FIed. There’s no evidence of me being affiliated. Sheriffs didn’t even pick me up, cuz I’m a sleeper like that. And, besides, Mrs. Hong couldn’t pick anybody out of a lineup, anyways. She picked some pineapple-headed paisa, I heard.


Angela’s staring at me. Wants me to say something. I don’t have the right answers for her, so I don’t. I just wait for a beep. There isn’t one tho.


She puts her head down and brings it back up by pushing all her hair away from her face in a wave. She’s all, “Thanks for making this easier.”


All I got left is hurt. That’s the shit making me say, “I mean, at least I can do that, right? You’re welcome.”


She gets this wiggly look on her face like she’s not sure what to say. And I get that. It’s how I feel too. I know I fucked up. A lot. I messed around on her with Tiny’s cousin Giselle when I was high. It’s more than that tho. Angela’s always been after me to change it up, to be up out of the streets. Get a job. Or go to school.


“It’s like you’re still wearing a mask around me,” she says, “of what you think I want to see.”


The beeping’s done for good, I think. I’m remembering how all it ever does is five. It doesn’t go on forever or anything. That gets me thinking how maybe everything’s on a timer. Not just me and Angela. Everything. Ticking down. Running out.


So I figure why not be real with her if . . . if that’s what she wants?


So I’m leaning forward, saying, “All I got is this burning feeling right here since the moment you said what you had to.”


She nods, like whatever, she don’t believe me.


“I’m serious,” I say. “Just . . .”


She bites her lip at me, wondering where I’m going with all this.


I say, “I wish you luck. In life, you know? All that suerte. For real. Just please don’t be messing around with no homies. I can’t handle that. For real, that’s not . . . I mean, nobody needs that. Not me. Not you. Not Wizard. Not whoever the fuck ends up being next. Okay?”


She don’t need me to say that nobody needs another Tiny Gangster situation. Shot six times. Lying up in St. Francis till his body gave up. No match for some bullets that his girl’s ex put in him.


I say, “So I’m gonna go now, all right? I’ll grab my shit some other day.”


She blinks. And I see how she’s crying. And that gets me. Cuz this whole time she’s been so cool and calm and grown with dropping this on me. A couple tears letting go, running down her cheek. I wanna wipe them off. That’s not for me to do anymore tho. She’s looking at me now in a way that says how she’s feeling my pain and feeling bad for causing it at the same time. But fuck that. She did it. And it’s done. And it’s been burning me inside how Little’s mamá was right all along.


“I guess,” Angela says.


“Okay,” I say.


And I just get up, like a man, and I carry the weight of all the stupid shit I done, cuz there’s no other choice. Cuz you have to. Always.


And I turn my back on her and walk out that front door. I bounce.


And I don’t fucking look back . . .











PART I





THE CRIMES IN QUESTION




When citizens destroy neighborhoods because of rage and we are asked to “understand” and “sympathize,” what we are being asked is to have compassion for rage. Well, what about the rage of the cops who see their efforts thwarted daily by a system that returns an endless parade of human debris to the streets to commit more crime? . . . How about a little “understanding” and “sympathy” for them and what they face every day? At present, there is less than one chance out of a hundred that a criminal who commits a serious crime will serve time in jail. Law-abiding people are fed up with this.


—RUSH H. LIMBAUGH III,
THE WAY THINGS OUGHT TO BE (ABRIDGED)












Augustine Clark, a.k.a. Augie


December 6, 1993 • 9:18 p.m.
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I’m standing on the corner of Josephine and Long Beach Boulevard saying to myself how I need to walk eight houses down Josephine or I’ll die. And right then is when this earthquake goes off inside me. It bends me in half. Feels like my bones are breaking from the inside. I got to use the sidewalk to hold myself. I got to put two hands on concrete and it’s cold and I’m looking like I’m trying to be an animal on all fours.


These earthquakes I got are major. Every one’s like a mouth in the middle of my body trying to eat what’s left of me. And this one’s swallowing me up.


It lets me go and I know I need to be moving before another comes. I wipe my nose on my shoulder when I feel wetness going down my lip and I’m real glad when I find it’s not blood.


A car rolls up slow. Lights hit me in my eyes and I flinch out of them. It’s got the windows down and some girl singer’s singing out the speakers. I can hear it. But I can’t tell the words.


“The fuck’s wrong with this fool? He’s got them malias or what?”


I hear that from the driver. And then he’s gone. The lights too.


Me and him both know how this’s no neighborhood to get caught in being dope sick. South of the new 105 like this? Off Long Beach like this? This is gangtown shit. After dark? That’s asking for bad things to find you.


And I sure as hell’d not be here if I had other types of options.


But this is what happens when you sleep for a day and a half and you wake up and you need fixing up worse than you ever needed anything.


I feel the next earthquake coming in shaky at first. Like a little aftershock. So I lean on a wall I got next to me and ride it out like I’m in a storm. I’m five houses down now. Almost there. Holding a wall and looking like I’m trying not to get picked up by some hurricane winds.


The smell of beef comes at me. Meat. It’s Tam’s. Or it’s Tacos Mexico. And my stomach’s acting like it’s grabbing on that just to mess with me. The earthquake right after is the worst one ever. So bad I think I’m gonna scream right there.


I would. But it wouldn’t make the pains better. And it wouldn’t fix this calling I got inside me. The calling’s more major than major.


It’s above the pain. Around it.


The calling pushes my steps and I fight right through some type of spaz move that makes my legs go sideways but I somehow keep walking. I’m used to these pains. I hate them. But I know them. And always the calling’s on top of me. It’s a need. Up there with breathing.


I worked nights in the port. Till my accident. I know how the night sounds of the boats go. And these feelings are like the front ends of foghorns. All up. No down. Not beeeee-uhhhh. Just like a beeeeeee that trails off. That’s how dope calls me. How it keeps calling me. How it’s out there in the night and telling me to come to it. Telling me if I get there I can keep floating after.


And that’s what makes me get to this door right now. And knock on it. I know better than to do it at night. Than to do it here. But I got to. It’s do this or die. It’s talk to Scrappy or die. That’s what my stomach’s saying. What my brain’s saying. They’re both agreeing on how I got no options left.


So I knock on the metal screen door and it rattles and then I lean all over the house and tell it to hold me.


The first person opening the door is a little kid. A boy with no shirt on. Behind the screen I see him with a popsicle in his mouth and he blinks at me.


That’s when I hear somebody shouting, “No!” and coming at us from the living room.


And me and him both know how he’s in trouble for opening the door at night. And the little boy turns in time to catch a swat across his butt from Scrappy.


Scrappy’s looking pissed too. Only in a T-shirt and shorts. No bra. But she got a game face on. All types of anger come at me through the holes in the metal screen.


“Bitch, get on,” she says. “I got nothing for your hype ass.”


She slams the door in my face. I feel the air from it hit me and I know then that this’s what it feels like when you’re drowning and somebody motors up to you in a boat and looks at you sinking and then rides off.


It’s fucking humiliating. It’s sad. It’s embarrassing. It’s everything at once.


But then another earthquake hits me and nothing else matters.


Fuck Scrappy. I decide that right now. I’m here. I’m gonna do whatever till she comes out. I don’t even care. You kill me? Fine. You’re putting me out my misery.


I go to the window and start tugging on that wood shutter it’s got attached. I’m yanking on it. I’m putting my weight on it. And it makes this goddamn terrible sound. This sound that’s like teeth scraping when one of the hinges decides to break out of the stucco.


I feel bad about that. I do. But I keep going.


I see bodies through the white curtains at the windows and then the curtains open. And it’s got to be Scrappy’s mother or whatever. And it’s Scrappy behind her looking horrified and telling me to get the fuck out with her eyes but knowing I’m not about to. Knowing I’m all the way in and she better deal with me before I fuck shit up for her worse.


Right then I fake like I’m about to upchuck everywhere. Like I’m about to be Scrappy’s big problem if she leaves me out here. She sees in my face how I’ll be on this lawn all night. I’ll use her mom’s bushes like a bed. And maybe I’ll be there in the morning to deal with. I’ll either be dead and she’ll need to call an ambulance and have authorities through here and answer questions or just run my ass out right now.


We have this moment right after another earthquake hits me and I got to stare at her grass and how it’s had no water in weeks. How it’s mostly dirt. And then I look up and we stare at each other and we both know how we hate each other but we know how it goes.


This’s the game. I need something bad. So bad I’ll do whatever has to be done for it. She knows that and she knows she has what I need to get fixed up. And she knows she better give it to me because I definitely got nothing to lose. I’ll fuck her whole house up from outside. What’s she gonna do? Call some sheriffs?


She points at me and slings her arm like she wants me to go across the street and then she pulls the curtains closed fast and I walk back a little.


I lean on the mailbox. I got a stitch going in my side from my hip to my ribs. It’s real quiet outside too. And I’m feeling eyes on me but fuck them. I look left. I look right.


I see a car down the block turn the front lights off but I don’t know if it was the car from before or a new car or a neighbor or what. Don’t care either.


When I look up again? Scrappy’s coming at me from the side of the house. She’s got a hoodie on now. And jeans. And she’s coming at me hard.


She’s whisper-shouting, “What the fuck you thinking, trying to come at my pad like this?”


BAM. She gets me good in the stomach with a fist I don’t even see swinging and I go down on where there should be grass but there isn’t. And the funny thing is how it feels good almost. How it’s not so bad as the quakes. It takes my mind off them. And I laugh.


She hates that shit. She kicks out at me and gets me good in the ribs where my stitch was. That I don’t laugh at. I just lose everything I got in my lungs and collapse into the dirt of her shitty front yard. I go into a ball till she gets sick of kicking at me. And she’s trying to catch her breath.


“You fight like a fucking closed envelope,” she says. And she spits next to me.


I pull out a wadded-up twenty and I hold it out to her. Like some flag of surrender.


She scoffs at that shit.


I unwad it. I try to make it flat between my hands before she snatches it and turns like she’s trying to go back inside that house. And you know I can’t let that happen.


“I’ll break the rest of your shutters off. I’ll fuck your garbage cans all up,” I say around some groans.


“You do that shit and I’ll kill your ass, Augie. Dumbass fucking gabacho!”


But she doesn’t step up to me. She’s shaking her head. And me? I hang on her every little move when I see her go into the pocket and rattle out a plastic bag with my name on it. When it’s out in the air, I don’t see anything else. Not streetlights. Not her. Nothing.


Only that plastic. Only that little bit of what’s inside it.


She throws it on the dirt and I go after it hard to get it in my hand. Like it’s a World Series catch and I fucking won the whole thing for making it. I smile so hard after that it’s like my face is gonna fall off.


Scrappy’s above me. Kicking at my foot but not hard.


“Hey. You ever walk up here again and you’re going in the hat. I don’t even care.” She puts both hands in her pockets and turns.


I get another quake where I’m sitting on my knees but I don’t feel it so much anymore. Not when I’m holding.


Because I’m up right after that and I’m walking back the way I came as fast as I can.


I don’t get too far when I hear some running footsteps and at first I’m thinking how they’re for me and I’m throwing the baggie in my mouth and getting it wedged up against my cheek but then I hear a guy’s voice.


“Scrap!”


That’s all he says. It’s not much. But it’s loud.


And it’s enough to get Scrappy to turn. And I’m turning too. Back up the street to face Scrappy’s house. And that’s when I see two people walking at her and one of them’s raising up a hand and there’s a pistol in it and I’m flinching back quick. But it’s too late.


I saw the guy’s face. It’s Wizard. And I’m fucking mad I just had to see that and mad he’s not covering his face or anything because that’s not good shit for me to be knowing and I’m getting right up behind the wall I had to lean on before when that fire spit comes from the barrel and goes white in the night.


One bang from the sidewalk. And Scrappy spins from that.


One from the middle of the dirt where I fell before. And she’s going down.


One from up close. When she’s already down.


I’m thinking how that was major when the gun’s getting dropped at her feet. Still smoking. My ears’re ringing. Dogs in people’s backyards are barking as loud as they can.


And Wizard and the other guy are running for a car. The other guy with a hoodie on. It’s a yellow Lakers one. The car’s starting. And that girl’s singing again. And then they’re gone. Not fast. Not screeching. Slow. Like they’d done it before. And that makes sense because Wizard’s real cold. He’s done all this before, I heard.


And I got adrenaline buzz all over me. It’s pushing my pains down. It’s making me run to stand by Scrappy and see how she ain’t moving but she’s breathing. So I roll up close to tell for sure.


But when I get there is when the door opens and her mother starts screaming. I try to tell her how there was dos muchachos here just now but that shit gets tangled up in my mouth.


“Telefona ambulanza!”


That’s what I end up saying. I say it twice for her to get me. But it helps with her knowing how I’m just the same dumbfuck from before. I didn’t do this. Couldn’t have.


She leaves the door open behind the screen when she goes for the phone. And I see the kid seeing his mom. He’s holding the popsicle stick. He’s got orange on his mouth. I can see that from the lamplight over the porch. He doesn’t even know what he’s seeing, and that’s good. That’s lucky for him.


Because I’m trying to put myself between him and Scrappy because she’s bleeding here right in front of me. And I’m seeing how she got one in the leg now. And one in the stomach. And one in like the upper shoulder by her neck. She’s got all types of bloody mud around her when I push both her hands onto her stomach.


“Hold there.” It’s like an order when I say it. “Hard as you can.”


A knife’s in the grass by her that she must’ve had and it fell out somehow. I grab that up and cut off some of the lower leg of her jeans and rip it into a strip and from the cuff. Baggies fall out and then I tourniquet the thing onto her thigh pretty good and fast.


“You’ll be okay.” I tell her that.


I count the baggies on the ground. There’s three.


And I tell myself how she doesn’t need them now. Look at her!


She shouldn’t have opened that door up late at night.


“You’ll be okay,” I say again.


She knew better.


And bleeding like that? Look! She’s not needing anything anymore!


But I do.


My heart’s going like crazy. I feel it every other place in my body. In my ears. In my throat. In my toes.


She’s got tears going. She’s closing her eyes.


 “Motherfucking Wizard.” She says that.


And that’s making my stomach drop right then. Because of course she had to see him from that close.


“You’ll be okay. This ain’t shit.” I don’t see her react to what I’m saying.


She ain’t gonna be okay but I don’t say that.


And I’m going through those pockets of hers and I’m grabbing up every baggie in there but that’s not enough. My lip has got the itchies. So I bite it when I’m unrolling her other jean cuff and more baggies are falling out and I’m pocketing them till I don’t have enough room anymore and then I’m putting them in my socks.


I’m thinking about how I should’ve gone all up in her underwear to check her for more but there’s no redoing that tourniquet now, so I’m ripping her shoes off and pulling the liner things out and there’s two more baggies each and I’m scanning after that and not really thinking because then I got the gun in my hand.


And I don’t even give a fuck about fingerprints till I’m holding it and thinking how that’s probably bad and how I probably shouldn’t have but it’s also too late. So I got to do what I got to do. And then I’m thinking how even that doesn’t matter so much as what it’s worth.


What I can sell it for. If I clean it up. If I don’t say where it’s been. Or how I got it.


I’m thinking on that when I try to run. Try to make one leg go in front of the other fast.


Because it’s just a gun I found. And anybody’d pay something for that.


Anybody.









Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo


December 7, 1993 • 07:18
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When I park and turn the car off, Rush Limbaugh’s tape cuts out. The first stop on my shift is Augustine Clark, a new case I got saddled with because Martinez (supposedly a hard-charger) is away on maternity leave, and she isn’t married or even with the baby’s father anymore, which is just complete nonsense. Frankly, any feminazi is welcome to explain how Martinez deserves to get paid as much as me when I have to do twice the work to make up for her being gone for months when I get no extra time off. Sure, she’s got two years’ seniority on me, but do I get overtime working her cases, at least? Nope. Budget restrictions mean I’m expected to handle four of her parolees in addition to what I’ve already got in terms of caseload. This is what happens in America now. White men pick up after everybody else. We fix things, quietly, while the lazy complain and get handouts. I’m sick and tired of it.


I open my door and get out. I thumb through Clark’s Parole Field File with my head on a swivel, checking my immediate vicinity for threats (the parking lot of the Islands Motel on Long Beach Boulevard in Lynwood, but nothing is stirring just yet, too early), as I familiarize myself with the man: CDC# is R19237, height is five-foot-seven, weight is one hundred and thirty, born 1953, street address is the same as this one but most definitely not the halfway house Martinez recommended (which she should’ve caught, frankly), place of employment listed on his Initial Interview Form is Working on it (no shit, he actually wrote that), listed monthly income is worryingly low even with for 15 years in the Navy and disability written beneath it, description and license of vehicle is Not applyable, and I can only assume he misspelled it. His rap sheet is: possession of a controlled substance ’87 (six months served), possession ’88, possession ’90, burglary ’90 (two years), and possession ’92, which resulted in his latest stretch, from which he was released five months early, likely for overcrowding, but they’re calling it good behavior on paper, what a joke. None of these scumbags do real time anymore.


I flip the paperwork back down and close the Field File. When I get out of the car, I open the trunk and drop the manila folder on top of my field book binder before slamming the trunk and locking it. I finish my coffee and leave the disposable cup sitting on the trunk when I don’t see a nearby trash can, because I’m no animal.


I knock hard, because this scumbag on the other side needs to know it’s time to get checked by a pro.


When the door opens, a smell comes out first. Rank staleness is how I’ll describe it in the write-up, likely an accumulation from re-wearing clothes without washing and food waste. These are not good signs for sobriety or doing parole the right way. Already I’m liking his chances for recidivating.


This feeling is compounded when I see Clark behind the door, bowing his balding head. He’s unshaven, hasn’t had a haircut in weeks. It’s a Tuesday, and he’s not ready to go out and look for work (obviously), which calls into question what he was up to last night.


I say, “What’s your CDC number?”


“R-one-nine-two-three-seven.” He says it hoarsely. “You can call me Augie.”


“Augie, I’m Agent Petrillo from the South Central Parole Unit. You can call me Agent Petrillo. Don’t confuse the fact of me being friendly with being your friend. I’m here to do a homecall. I’m handling Agent Martinez’s cases now. I see you didn’t report to the parole office last week as instructed. Why not?”


“I-I was sick,” he says.


“Failing to report is a serious violation. That alone is enough to issue a PAL warrant. That could mean a year in custody. And with your criminal history, that would be straight time.”


He’s been on parole three times. He knows PAL is short for parolee-at-large. I don’t need to explain it.


I look around the room: piles of clothes in each corner, empty Gatorade bottles around the television, food wrappers everywhere. It’s a rathole.


I say, “This isn’t the halfway house my partner recommended to you. Is it, Clark?”


When he doesn’t respond immediately, I step into the room, extract a penlight from my pocket, and shine it in his eyes.


He jumps back, hits the wall by the bathroom door, and essentially sticks to it. He’s got his palms over his eyes when he says, “C’mon, man!”


“What’s going to happen if you test?”


He’s been using. No doubt in my mind. Still, I always have to ask first. Give them a chance to be honest. It’s only fair.


 “I-I don’t know, Agent Petrillo.”


“You’re lying, Clark.”


“It’s Augie. Just Augie. Please?”


His pupils are constricted. I’m near the light switch, so I flick it off, and I flash Augie in the face with my penlight.


“I’ll be noting for the purposes of my report that your pupils appear nonresponsive to direct light, and I have reason to believe you have been using a controlled substance and violating your terms. I need to search the premises.”


“C’mon, Agent Petrillo, man!”


He’s busted. He knows it. It’s just a matter of how long it takes me to find what’s worth finding. For my own safety, I pick a wooden chair for him that’s out of reach of the dresser and the bed, and far enough from the door that I can fuck him up if he tries to run.


“Sit,” I say.


He does, so I glove up. I consider cuffing him, but decide not to. I survey his immediate surroundings for a weapon: a knife, anything. There’s nothing. I keep one eye on him as I toss the bed. I check inside the pillows, between mattress and box spring, and every drawer of the nightstand. Nothing. I do the big dresser. I pull it out. I go behind the television. I do the closet. Nothing. In the bathroom, I find his kit: a rig-needle, a bent spoon with some residue, some dirty cotton that looks like he tore it off a Q-tip, and his tie-off.


This alone is enough to cancel his vacation from prison. He’s looking at a year flat. No good time. No work credits. And he does the whole 365.


“You’re fucked, Augie,” I say. “You’re going back for a bullet.”


“I-I know,” he says.


I’m not done, though. I kick at the carpet. The far corner comes up and I pull. Underneath is the glue and white bits of carpet base, but nothing else. I flop the carpet back, but something’s not right with how it goes down. It’s not entirely flat. I kick at it again, but it doesn’t sit, and what’s more, the baseboard moves, so I kick that too, and it jiggles.


I look to Augie. He’s frowning, and looking like he’s about to cry.


 “What am I going to find, Augie?”


He digs his knuckles hard into his forehead.


 “Fuck,” he says. “Fuck!”


I pull the baseboard back with my fingers, careful not to poke myself on any nails still attached to it. When I’ve got it all the way off the bottom of the wall, I can see into two little hidey-holes, roughly eight inches long and two inches high. Inside one is ten plastic baggies. Inside the other is a gun.


I pull my weapon and am gun-pointed on Augie. My heart thumps up in my chest as I go from zero to high-order violence. “Get the fuck down, now!”


Augie slides out of the chair and collapses onto the carpet face-first. He prones out and I cuff him hard. That’s what he gets for not telling me.


 “You knew I was going to find that! Why the fuck didn’t you tell me it was there? You’re lucky I didn’t shoot you!”


I holster up. I take a few breaths to calm down. It doesn’t work.


I say to him, “You’re sitting on a sales case for that many baggies and a felon-in-possession charge. That’s definitely double-digit time.”


Augie doesn’t have an answer right away, and that’s okay. He doesn’t have to, but I need to call this in to the sheriffs. I cross the room to the phone, and I’m about to pick it up when he turns his head, opens his mouth to spit out some carpet twine, and says, “What if I knew something, man?”


I stop. I say, “Knew something about what, Clark?”


“A worse crime,” he says. “Some major shit.”


“That’s not something I deal with. Now let’s get you that ride and get you going.”


There’s a phone on the bedside table. I pick up the receiver.


 “You know Wizard?”


When he says the name, I feel it in the base of my spine like somebody kicked me with a steel-toed boot, and then I feel a tingle. A tingle I know well.


I put the phone down. Everybody knows Wizard. You spend time in Lynwood, you hear the name, but there’s something else: he’s one of my original parolees since I transferred here a year ago, after my incident.


I say, “What about him?”


“I-I saw Wizard and another guy kill a girl last night,” he says, “with that pistol.”


I don’t hide my disbelief when I say, “You’re telling me you took a gun from a crime scene?”


“I was gonna sell it,” he says.


The second that’s out of his mouth, I laugh at the idiocy of it, but then something else grabs me: the thought of having something solid on Wizard, and after that, it’s all I can think about.


That little fucker, he’s lied to me more times than I can count, but the most maddening thing about it is that I’ve never been able to catch him in one, because down here in the ghetto, everybody covers for everybody else. They see everything, these neighborhood people, but they don’t say anything. It’s the opposite of a civil society, because these little gangsters run a tight ship. Neighborhood people never give statements on the record, never aid prosecution. These Hispanics, they don’t have values like we have values. They’ll lie like breathing. They’ll shoot you for nothing, too. They’ll shoot you because somebody told them to. It’s the law of the jungle out here. The only way anybody ever goes away for anything is—


An idea hits me then. It stops me cold, and it must make me pull a face, because Augie says, “You okay?”


“Shut it, Augie.”


Straightaway, I know it’s the best idea I’ve ever had. It could kill a few birds with one big stone. There’s no way anybody stands up about this shooting, not even Augie, unless I make him stand up, because the only way anybody goes down for this is if he points fingers.


Damn, it could be sweet. It could be the sweetest move that ever got pulled.


It could be justice (real justice, for once), and a whole lot more. There could even be something for me to take out of it. I could get the best kind of reward. Two things at the same time (something I’ve always wanted, and something I could punish them with), because if I can get those little criminals out of that house, it’ll be open season on Wizard’s cousin.


She’ll be vulnerable. She’ll be alone. She won’t have anybody to lean on close by. I’ve seen how she’s looked at me. I know she’s thought about me. It’s in her eyes. Those eyes always told me something else too: she’s the type of girl I can teach things to, and she’ll appreciate it.


Augie’s got his mouth open, and he’s staring at me, so I say, “Who was the other guy, Augie?”


Augie gulps. “What?”


Say Dreamer. I’m trying to send the word across the room to him. Dreamer. Please, God, just let him say that word. He’s not getting it, though. I have to say, “You said there were two guys. If Wizard was one, who was the other guy at the shooting?”


Dreamer. I’m practically saying it under my breath. Dreamer. Dreamer. Dreamer. C’mon, Augie, say it. Give me the name of a thuggish little gangster who everybody knows is into bad things but has never gotten a felony on his record. Say Dreamer. Give me the name of Angela’s boyfriend, the dipshit living in that house rent-free and getting pussy he never deserved, so I can take him off the board altogether, because whether he was there or not last night doesn’t matter. If he didn’t shoot somebody then, he’ll do it next week, or next month, with no guarantee he goes to prison for it. No, sir. This way, they both get what’s coming.


“Don’t know,” Augie says. He’s looking at the kicked-up chunk of carpet like it betrayed him.


This could mean he knows, but he’s not telling me. I decide to prompt him again, but all the way this time.


I say, “Was it Dreamer?”


“I-I don’t really know him, not to look at, and it was dark.”


I don’t say anything. I wait for Augie to bring his eyes back up to my face. It takes a few seconds, but it’s enough time for him to know that things might be shifting between us, that maybe he has options after all. My mouth goes dry. My throat, too. What I’m about to say is risky, so risky I’d never even take the chance on it if I weren’t telling somebody that nobody else would ever believe.


I say, “You’re going to tell them it was.”


He just leaves his mouth open. I nod to the plastic baggies.


“All of those bags but one go down the toilet. I only violate you for using. I take you in. You tell the sheriffs what you saw, which I’m sure will make things easier for you when it comes time for your discharge review. The only thing you add to your witness statement is: you tell them it was Wizard and Dreamer you saw last night. Both of them.”


He’s trying to get his head around it and failing. “But—”


I cut him off. “Get on the right side of the system, Augie. I’m your one shot. I want Wizard and Dreamer gone, and you want to stay out of prison. If we can agree on that, I will make sure this gun gets to the proper authorities so they can prosecute a couple of murderers.”


Augie blinks at me. “How you gonna tell them where you found it?”


“Who says I need to tell them anything?”


He closes his mouth then, and he nods right there where he is on the carpet.


We have a deal.


“Good.” I uncuff him and nod toward the bathroom. “Now get your kit and fix up a quarter dose, so you’re not completely dope sick when they question you.”


His eyes bug out at that. He can’t believe I’m serious.


I am.
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The drop goes smoothly. Augie needs one more pep talk to go over the details again, to get them sealed up tight in his brain, and then we go through the front doors and he gets taken into custody. They’ll jail him in Firestone Park Station because it’s where I bring him. I have better links to people here than the Lynwood jail, and besides, they’re having some construction issues anyway. When the detectives are ready for Augie, he’ll be in a chair answering questions about what he knows and how he knows it. He’s not likely to be the most reliable key witness, given his past convictions and drug use, but if I do what I need to do with the gun, it will all work out by the time he gets to County Jail and gets PCed.


I check with the desk about the shooting. I’m still half expecting it not to be true, if I’m honest. To my surprise, Lucrecia A. Lucero, a.k.a. Lu-Lu, a.k.a. Scrappy, was indeed shot last night at approximately 2120 hours, outside her mother’s residence. She caught three rounds. It was good aim, and her shooter was close, but it wasn’t the best aim. She lived, just like a cucaracha. She’s at St. Francis now, status: stable. The deputy on desk duty let me know that she went in with a tourniquet on her. It saved her life.


I ask if I can head back to the bullpen and leave a note for Montero, one of the detectives I know (not sure what their rotation is, or if he’ll be assigned, but it’s worth a shot to cover my ass), and I get told that’s fine. My note details what I know regarding Augie’s statement, that my parolee confessed it to me, and I brought him in on a parole violation as well as to give an official statement. However, since one of my other parolees may have been directly involved in this shooting, I write that I felt it was incumbent upon me to go check up on him with patrol. When I’m done writing, I head back to the front and request a unit.


It takes about twenty minutes to get cleared from above, so I use that time to sit and think about how I’m about to go into Wizard and Dreamer’s place to hide that gun a few minutes before finding it there with my sheriff counterpart. If both suspects are there when it happens, okay, they go straight into custody, but that potentially complicates the plant. If they’re not there, it’s easier to plant, and then maybe I find it on my search because I’m a pro.


And with that in mind, I’m in enforcement mode now. Before I walked Augie in, I switched to my ballistic vest and a marked raid jacket to keep things going high-speed, but also because it is very easy to conceal the .38 pistol under my vest, where it is both accessible and secured.


“Petrilla?”


In front of me is a muscular deputy in the tan uniform they’ve all got. He must be six-foot, two hundred. He’s a black, but he says my name like it’s Spanish: the double l as a stupid y.


“Petrillo,” I say as I stand. “It’s Italian, and it’s got an o on the end of it.”


“Oh, right.” His name tag says JACKSON on it. “What’d I say?”


I give him a look that means: You know what you said. “You said it wrong.”


“I got you.” He looks at me. “Petrillo.”


I smile when he pronounces it rightly to show him he did better, but it’s more out of relief that I don’t have to sort him out. We shake hands. Jackson’s got a shaved head that looks like a shiny piece of rock you’d never want to get hit with, and a hand that swallows mine up when we shake.


I say. “So, you got a partner coming along with us?”


He says, “No, he’s got a case review thing. It’s just us.”


“That’s fine,” I say, and as I turn, I motion for him to follow.


We walk out together. From two minutes of talking to him, I gather that he’s fresh off Central Jail duty in downtown, and new to these streets, which is just my good luck.


It’s getting toward nine and the clouds have burned off. What’s left is a sky that looks dirty-river-blue. I park on Virginia, across the street and five houses before Wizard’s residence. Jackson parks behind me. I exit my vehicle. Jackson follows, one hand on his gun and one at his side. I slow my pace, allowing him to walk side by side with me. He’s eyes up on the street, looking left and right as we cross. We mean business, and the neighborhood knows it. I feel someone looking at us, but there’s no one else on the street.


The closer I get, the more I anticipate seeing her, and I feel queasy. She does this to me.


Across the sidewalk, there’s a low chain-link fence with a gate blocking the driveway. It’s on rollers. Behind it is what’s left of a yard. I approach the gate and open it without hesitation. Jackson can tell I’ve been here before. We go straight up the walkway and I knock my knock on the front door. We wait.


A plane sails overhead on its way to LAX. The door doesn’t have a spy hole in it, but vertical shades in the window next to it shake and then a voice from the other side says, “Who is it?”


To my relief, it’s Angela. It’s been a week since last I saw her.


I clear my throat. “Parole search!”


Two locks unbolt, and she fumbles with the one on the handle before it turns. She’s nervous, I think. I wonder if she knows what her cousin and her boyfriend got up to last night. I think it unlikely, because she’s a good girl, but anything is possible. I’ve seen enough by now to know that. As the door swings open, Jackson rocks back slightly on his heels when he sees Angela standing there in front of us, the soft yellow light hanging above the kitchen table shining through her curls. She’s a ten and he knows it.


She’s five-six and a former local track star (hurdles).


Every time I see her, I think: She’s better than this. She doesn’t deserve this place. I can save her from it.


Her hair is wet (from the shower, or a bath?). She’s wearing a Lynwood High T-shirt, loose white sweatpants, no shoes. Her toenails are painted silver and black.


She works at Tom’s Burgers most days, and attends night school for her nursing certificate for elderly care.


Jackson doesn’t know any of that. He just knows she’s a knockout living with a couple of gangster scumbags.


“Agent Petrillo,” she says, gathering her wet hair into a ponytail. “What is it you need today?”


She heard me say search before she opened the door, but now she can see my hand is on my holstered weapon.


I say, “Is anyone else home?”


“No,” she says. “Just me.”


More relief: it’s the best-case scenario for doing what I need to do. I let go of my sidearm.


I say, “We are here to do a parole search.”


She steps back from the door. I go first. Jackson walks in behind me and shuts the door.


Angela has seen searches like this before. She’s used to the fact that parolees do not have private space. This is the third such search I’ve conducted since Wizard was released for his conviction of assault with a deadly weapon (ADW) months ago. However, Angela’s eyes are wary this time. Never have I brought a deputy with me to do it. She moves to sit at the nearest place at the table, one where a textbook sits open next to a bowl of unfinished cereal.


She waves a hand at me, like she’s saying, Get on with it, before picking up a spoon.


I don’t waste any time. I head straight for the kitchen.
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I glove up and open cabinets as Jackson stations himself on the other side of the counter, with his back facing me. He’s watching Angela for the purposes of officer safety, but it helps that she’s gorgeous. I make a show of it because I can’t hide the gun in the first place I search. More importantly, I need to be seen searching thoroughly by Jackson so he can later write it in his report. He’s my witness. What he sees and does here will help me cover my ass.


There’s nothing worth finding under the sink: a box of trash bags, soaps, a bag of dried corn husks. I check the pipes. I feel behind the exposed metal basin of the sink, running my fingers between it and the wall. One time I found a guy’s stash this way, tacked to the sink with magnets. Here, there’s nothing.


I finish up by going through the mail, facing the table where Angela crunches quietly and turns a page. My eyes aren’t on addresses. They’re on the base of her neck, and I’m wondering what it’d be like to kiss her there: what her skin smells like, tastes like, how she’d react if I bit.


(Okay, now, I say to myself, settle it down. Go slow. Be methodical.)


I move to the living room. I toss the couch and check under it, and then put everything back as it was. She doesn’t say anything, but I can tell she appreciates it. There’s a chair in there I turn upside down. I check the television for loose paneling. There isn’t any.


I enter the hallway where the bedrooms are, and Jackson looks to me as I’m about to go into Wizard’s room.


He says, “You need anything?”


“I’m good,” I say. “I’ll let you know if I do.”


He’s twenty-two, but Wizard’s room looks like it belongs to a kid: World Series Dodgers pennant (1988), a Fernando Valenzuela poster, old car photo spreads he ripped out of magazines. He has a small tape player setup and stacks of tapes (rap crap mostly, but some heavy metal and Latin stuff). The first time I ever entered, I thought it was either the room of a person you’d never have figured for prison, or that he simply never changed it when he came back home. I spend extra time in here. I toss the bed. I do the closet next, every inch of it.


I’ve never been able to ascertain how Wizard pays for the house he lives in, but I’d not be surprised in the least if it was propped up with drug money. I believe his mother owned it (and then she died, or just left?). It’d be good to know that. In case I need to use it at any point.


After I’ve spent over twenty minutes in Wizard’s room, I make my way to the room Angela shares with Dreamer. Before I go in, though, I shoot a quick glance to the front of the house. Angela’s still there reading. Jackson’s staring at his fingers. Just walking in nauseates me. That a girl this fine wastes her feminine gifts on a scumbag is a fucking tragedy. It’s hard being so close to the bed where I know she sleeps. I toss it, but I do it quick and light. I go through the sheets. Angela’s pillow is the one with her long hairs on it. I check the door, then smell it. It’s cinnamon. My heart goes crazy at that.


(You can do this, I tell myself. Slow down. Breathe. No one can see you.) I check under the bed.


I check the closet, but I’m done in a moment. Next to it is a poster of Princess Jasmine from Aladdin: brown skin, silk clothes. Seeing that? Wow. It’s like she’s handing me a key to her fantasies. I make a promise that I’ll treat her like a princess sooner than she thinks, and I turn to the dresser.


It’s old and wooden, with chipped white paint. There’s plenty of room between drawers and the base, which is to say that if a revolver were to be placed underneath the bottom drawer, it would not impede the motion of the drawer above it. It could be used normally, and nobody would know it was actually there unless they looked.


I take my time with each drawer. The top one is Angela’s. It’s full of her underwear: beige, purple, light blue cotton. I want to touch them with my bare hands, but I don’t dare remove my gloves. The second is also hers: shirts, skirts, jeans. The third is Dreamer’s. The bottom one is his, too. That’s the drawer I remove fully from its tracks.


When it’s out, I check the door behind me to make sure Jackson’s not standing there. I glance at the window. Nobody is watching me.


The drawer feels light in my hands as I transfer it to my left arm just long enough to pull the revolver Augie found from my back waistband. Since my belt is tighter than it has ever been to hide this piece, I have to wiggle the handle (extra, extra carefully) to get the bulky cylinder out from under my belt and vest. When I get it, I double-check that it has three bullets still left in it and three spent casings. I place it on the carpet with all the reverence the gift-wrapped conviction of two worthless scumbags deserves.


I raise my voice. “Jackson? You’ve got to see this.”


Jackson enters the room with Angela in front of him and has her sit on the bed. He looks to me, and I nod at the dresser. His stare penetrates into the cavity where the last drawer used to be, and where the gun is now.


“Would you look at that?” Jackson grins. “I need to call this in.”


He looks to Angela. “Can I use the house phone in the kitchen?”


She looks stunned.


“Yeah,” she says.


Before he leaves the room, I tell him to also call Montero to see if he got my note.


Jackson goes out to the kitchen. I hear him report the parole violation of Omar “Wizard” Tavira, and the discovery at Wizard’s residence of a .38-caliber revolver possibly employed in the shooting of Lucrecia “Scrappy” Lucero. He asks if someone will be sent to photograph and bag it. He apparently is told no, that resources are not currently available, because he says he will preserve chain of evidence himself. Beside me, on the bed, Angela looks devastated. Tears hang on her eyelashes. She looks down, and they fall on her shirt.


I want to hold her. I don’t. I can’t (not yet).


“I have a camera in my car,” I say to Jackson when he comes back in. “I can photograph it.”


“Good,” he says.


Jackson keeps eyes on the weapon and Angela when I go outside and put new film in my camera. I drag the process out: a photo of the house from across the street, a close-up of the painted address on the curb, a photo of the front door, one of the living room, one of the hallway, one of Dreamer’s room, a photo of the dresser with the gun clearly visible inside the hole. I do all this for documentation, but also to make absolutely certain that the gun isn’t still warm from my body heat when Jackson picks it up.


Before Jackson bags it, I take close-ups with a flash. He then takes custody of the weapon. As far as the report is concerned, he’ll state: While conducting a parole search of the residence of record for Omar Tavira, Parole Agent P. Petrillo located a Rossi, nickel-plated, .38 Special with a faux-wood handle and the serial number ground down. The gun was removed from the second bedroom, which was unlocked and accessible to Tavira. The gun was concealed inside a dresser located at the southeast corner of the room which roommate Jacob Safulu shares with Tavira’s cousin, Angela Alvarez.


He’ll include Angela’s DOB as well. He’ll also make certain to note how it was found (Petrillo, during a search of his parolee’s residence), how it was documented (Petrillo, photographs), and how it was retrieved (Jackson, using gloves). His report will state that I never touched the weapon; my report will reflect this fact, and reinforce Jackson’s statement of events. Our asses will be fully covered.


When we have finished, Jackson says to Angela, “Have you ever seen this weapon before?”


“No,” she says.


“Did you know it was here?”


“How could I if I’ve never seen it?”


That stops him. It takes a second before Jackson says, “Ma’am, would you mind coming to the station with us, so the detectives can ask you some questions?”


It’s a delicate moment. If Angela pushes back and says no, he will make it clear to her that he can have her arrested for possession of an unlicensed handgun, as it was found in her room. He will then, most likely, have to cuff her. I hate the idea (it burns inside me; I want to be the first one to put her in cuffs, and only when we’re alone and she has begged me to), but it isn’t my show anymore. I have to stand by and see how it plays out.


She looks to Jackson, and then to me, and I’ve never seen any girl look so beautiful as she does right now: helpless, confused, vulnerable. Everything I’ve ever wanted. It’s obvious how much she needs a protector, a real man, me. I send her a mental radio frequency that the best thing to do is come in, clear up that it isn’t her gun, that she’s never seen it before in her life.


We go almost a minute standing there before she says, “I’ll come in voluntarily.”











PART II





DOCUMENTS FORMING THE BASIS FOR ARREST OF SUSPECTS




Documents create a paper reality we call proof.


—MASON COOLEY












THIS is a taped statement of Angela Alvarez, who resides at 11365 Virginia Avenue, Lynwood, California 90262. Miss Alvarez has a date of birth of 09/16/75. Statement was taken at the L.A. County Sheriff’s Department, Firestone Park Station. Present is Detective Montero, who conducts the interview. Present also is Lieutenant Judith Sakamoto-Hirsch for purposes of observation. Today’s date is December 7, 1993. The time is approximately 1315 hours.


MONTERO: [Inaudible] . . . starting the tape. OK. The time is 1315 hours. Present is Detective William F. Montero, Badge number 38621, and Lieutenant Judith Sakamoto-Hirsch, if she would please identify herself for the record?


SAKAMOTO-HIRSCH: Judith Hana Sakamoto-Hirsch, Badge number 33109.


MONTERO: Thank you, Lieutenant. OK. I want to state for the record that, Miss Alvarez, you are not in custody, you are free to leave at any time, and neither are you being charged or held in relation to a crime. Do you understand?


ALVAREZ: Um, I understand.


MONTERO: Good. Please state your full name for the record.


ALVAREZ: Angela Carla Alvarez.


MONTERO: Thank you. And what’s your date of birth, Miss Alvarez?


ALVAREZ: September sixteenth, 1975.


MONTERO: Do you have a current place of employment?


ALVAREZ: Tom’s Burgers, but I’m studying to be a nurse too.


MONTERO: That’s real good. What nursing school are you doing that through?


ALVAREZ: It’s an ROP through Lynwood High.


MONTERO: And what’s an ROP?


ALVAREZ: Regional occupational program. It’s for geriatric care.


MONTERO: And how long have you been doing that?


ALVAREZ: Um, about a year? I think it’s six months to go now. After that, I take the licensure test.


MONTERO: I see. Do you reside at 11523 Virginia Avenue in Lynwood?


ALVAREZ: Yes.


MONTERO: And how long have you lived there?


ALVAREZ: Prolly I’ve lived there thirteen years now, since 1980?


MONTERO: Do you currently live alone at the Virginia Avenue address?


ALVAREZ: No.


MONTERO: Since you don’t live alone, who lives with you?


ALVAREZ: Um, Omar and Jacob.


MONTERO: Would that be Omar Tavira and Jacob Safulu?


ALVAREZ: Yes.


MONTERO: And do they go by the street names Wizard and Dreamer?


ALVAREZ: I don’t really know if I can say about that. To me, they’re just Jellybean and Jacob.


MONTERO: Jellybean?


ALVAREZ: When Omar was little, his favorite thing in the world was them. It’s like a family nickname, I guess.


MONTERO: OK. Are you aware that both individuals are involved [inaudible] gang here in Lynwood?


ALVAREZ: I don’t ask about that stuff. It’s not really my business.


MONTERO: OK. Look, how long have you known Mr. Tavira and Mr. Safulu?


ALVAREZ: Um, I’ve known my cousin his whole life, since he’s younger. Jacob? I’ve known him since prolly five years ago now.


MONTERO: And when did Jacob Safulu move into the Virginia Avenue address?


ALVAREZ: About a year ago.


MONTERO: Are you sure about that?


ALVAREZ: Yes. We got together right before I started nursing school, and he moved in pretty soon after that cuz his mom ran off.


MONTERO: When was the last time you saw Omar Tavira and Jacob Safulu?


ALVAREZ: I haven’t seen Omar since Wednesday, but I’ve been going to work and school, so it’s not all that unusual if we miss each other.


MONTERO: And when was the last time you saw Jacob Safulu?


ALVAREZ: Last night.


MONTERO: Last night, Monday, December sixth?


ALVAREZ: Yes. We were together.


MONTERO: And how long were you together last night? Did he leave your company at any time?


ALVAREZ: He left just before nine-fifty.


MONTERO: [Inaudible] at nine-fifty p.m.?


ALVAREZ: Yes.


MONTERO: And how come you know the time exactly, Miss Alvarez?


ALVAREZ: I left some food in the microwave. I meant to eat it before, but we ended up getting into this big talk, so I didn’t. After he left, I went into the kitchen and got it, and I looked at the time before I opened the door of it, since it has the clock right on the front.


MONTERO: [Inaudible] talk last night. How was Mr. Safulu acting during the time he was present?


ALVAREZ: He was acting fine until I broke up with him.


MONTERO: You ended your roughly yearlong relationship with Mr. Safulu last night?


ALVAREZ: Yes.


MONTERO: And how did he react to this news?


ALVAREZ: He was real quiet. He just took it.


MONTERO: Was this unusual behavior on his part?


ALVAREZ: Um, I guess so. Yeah. I’d never broken up with him before, so I can’t really say . . .


MONTERO: Are you aware that Lucrecia Lucero was shot at approximately nine-thirty last night in Lynwood?


ALVAREZ: No. I wasn’t. But . . . wait. If you’re trying to say what I think you’re trying to say, it wasn’t Jacob and it couldn’t have been. We were still together then.


MONTERO: Are you certain you were together at that time, Miss Alvarez?


ALVAREZ: A hundred percent certain.


MONTERO: Is it possible you were emotionally upset and not remembering the time correctly?


ALVAREZ: No. I was hungry. I wanted my mac and cheese and I saw the time then.


MONTERO: Do you recognize this gun?


ALVAREZ: I only recognize it cuz I saw it getting carried out in a clear baggie at my house today.


MONTERO: It was collected during a search of the premises. Is that correct?


ALVAREZ: Yes.


MONTERO: And who performed that search?


ALVAREZ: My cousin’s parole officer.


MONTERO: Was it unusual for this parole agent to search the house?


ALVAREZ: No. He’d searched it before. Like you said, Omar’s on parole.


MONTERO: How many occasions (inaudible) did the officer search the house?


ALVAREZ: I would say five.


MONTERO: Had he ever found anything worth reporting before?


ALVAREZ: No.


MONTERO: But this time he uncovered a weapon in your bedroom. (Inaudible) at the bottom of a chest of drawers. What was it doing there?


ALVAREZ: I don’t know.


MONTERO: Did you put it there?


ALVAREZ: Hell, no.


MONTERO: Do you think it’s possible that this weapon belonged to Omar Tavira or Jacob Safulu?


ALVAREZ: Um. No. There’s never been a gun in the house before. Not even once.


MONTERO: [Inaudible] would you lie to protect Mr. Tavira?


ALVAREZ: No. Jellybean’s my cousin, but he’s crazy. I don’t approve of what he might have been up to, especially if (inaudible), but I just tell him, don’t bring drama home, and he doesn’t.


MONTERO: And would you lie to protect Jacob Safulu?


ALVAREZ: No. I don’t owe him anything. But he was with me last night. What he did after, I don’t know. But it wasn’t shooting anybody. I know that for sure.


MONTERO: We have not established an exact time of the shooting, only an approximate one. And since he left the residence, and you were not with him after you ended your relationship, is it possible for you to say with certainty where he went?


ALVAREZ: Oh. OK. I see what you did there. No.


MONTERO: And have you seen him since?


ALVAREZ: No. I said we broke up.


MONTERO: Those are all the questions I have for now, Miss Alvarez.









AFFIDAVIT UNDER OATH


I, Augustine Patrick Clark (“Declarant”), am a resident of Lynwood, County of Los Angeles, State of California, and do hereby certify, swear or affirm, and declare that I am competent to give the following declaration based on my personal knowledge, unless otherwise stated, and that the following facts and things are true and correct to the best of my knowledge:


Last night I was on Josephine at about nine o’clock in the evening. I was feeling very sick from drug withdrawals and was just trying to get to see Scrappy. She lives down the block. I knew she could help me feel better. I knew it was a bad idea but I was feeling very ill.


I did not see anyone else on the street at that time.


I visited Scrappy and she came out of the house to meet me on the lawn. We had an altercation. She punched and kicked me because I should not have gone to her mother’s house at night. I understood but I wasn’t feeling good. I explained that to her. I told her I needed her help to feel better.


I got what I needed after that and I was walking back to the place where I stay. I was walking for not even a minute when I heard someone yell out “Scrap” and I turned back and looked at Scrappy’s house. Scrappy was still standing in the front yard and she was looking up to where somebody called her name.


I saw Wizard on the sidewalk holding a gun and aiming it at Scrappy. Next to Wizard was another person I recognized. His name is Dreamer. Dreamer was wearing a yellow Lakers sweatshirt and I could see it even in the night because it was so bright. Wizard and Dreamer are in a gang together and Scrappy is in a different gang.


Wizard shot the gun three times at Scrappy as he walked closer to her. The first shot was from the sidewalk. Approximately twenty feet away. The second shot was from the grass. Approximately ten feet away. The third shot came when he was standing approximately four feet away from her. She was already on the ground then. So he shot down on her.


I watched Wizard hand the gun to Dreamer, and Dreamer put it in the front pouch of his sweatshirt. After that, they both ran away. They got in a car that was parked up the block and drove off slow like they hadn’t done anything but they did.


I was worried Scrappy was dead and I ran to her when I could see I wasn’t in danger.


I could see that Scrappy had been shot in the leg. She had also been shot in the stomach. And also near the neck.


I was in the Navy so I know what to do in emergencies.


I put Scrappy’s hands on her stomach and told her to put pressure there.


I saw how there was a knife on the grass. I don’t know whose it was but I thought it was Scrappy’s. I opened this knife and I cut away some of her left jeans leg. I used a strip of this to create a tourniquet for her leg. I tied that on tight. She was moaning. She was in a lot of pain.


She also said “Motherfucking Wizard” because she knew he shot her too.


Her mother had heard the shots and opened the door then and I told her in Spanish to call for an ambulance. She went back into the house to do that.


After that there wasn’t really anything I could do and I was really scared. I didn’t want to be there when the ambulance and sheriffs came. So I ran away.


I swear that the above information I have provided is true and complete.


WITNESS my signature this 7th day of December 1993.
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Signature of Declarant









SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES


[image: image]


The undersigned, certifying upon information and belief, complains that in the County of Los Angeles, State of California, the defendants committed the following crimes:


COUNT 1 (Pen. Code § 182, Sub. (a))


CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT A CRIME


That on or about December 6, 1993, in the County of Los Angeles, State of California, OMAR TAVIRA and JACOB SAFULU did knowingly and unlawfully conspire between themselves and also with other persons whose identities are unknown to commit the crime of Murder, in violation of Penal Code Section 182, subsection (a), a felony.


The object of the conspiracy was to murder LUCRECIA LUCERO, a human being, for her participation in criminal activities, specifically the sale of illegal narcotics, for a rival street gang.


Thereafter, in the County of Los Angeles, pursuant to the above conspiracy, and in furtherance of the object thereof, the following acts were committed:


OVERT ACT NUMBER 1


On or about December 6, 1993, Omar Tavira, then on parole, did unlawfully obtain an unregistered firearm for the purposes of murdering LUCRECIA LUCERO, a human being.


OVERT ACT NUMBER 2


On or about December 6, 1993, Omar Tavira did enlist the help of Jacob Safulu to participate by driving the escape vehicle so that he could discharge said unregistered firearm with the express purpose of murdering Lucrecia Lucero, a human being.


OVERT ACT NUMBER 3


On or about December 6, 1993, Omar Tavira and Jacob Safulu went to Lucrecia Lucero’s residence in the city of Lynwood for the willful, deliberate, and premeditated purpose of murder.
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COUNT 2 (Pen. Code § 664/187, Sub. (a))
ATTEMPTED WILLFUL, DELIBERATE, AND PREMEDITATED MURDER


On or about December 6, 1993, in the County of Los Angeles, State of California, OMAR TAVIRA and JACOB SAFULU did willfully, unlawfully, and with malice aforethought attempt to murder LUCRECIA LUCERO, a human being, in violation of Penal Code Section 664/187(a), a felony.


It is further alleged that the aforesaid offense of attempted murder was committed willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation within the meaning of Penal Code section 664(a).


It is further alleged as to count 2 that said Omar Tavira personally and intentionally discharged a firearm, a handgun, which caused great bodily injury to Lucrecia Lucero within the meaning of Penal Code Section 12022.53(d) also causing the above offense to become a violent felony within the meaning of Penal Code Sections 667.5(c)(8).
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COUNT 3 (Pen. Code § 245, Sub. (a)(2))
ASSAULT WITH A DEADLY WEAPON (FIREARM)


On December 6, 1993, at approximately 9:30 p.m., in the County of Los Angeles, State of California, OMAR TAVIRA and JACOB SAFULU did willfully, unlawfully, and with malice aforethought commit the crime of Assault with a Deadly Weapon, employing a handgun, in violation of Penal Code Section 245(a)(2), a felony.


It is further alleged that the aforesaid offense is a violent felony within the meaning of Penal Code Sections 667.5(c)(8) and 667.5(c)(12).
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COUNT 4 (Pen. Code § 206)
MAYHEM


On December 6, 1993, at approximately 9:30 p.m., in the County of Los Angeles, State of California, OMAR TAVIRA and JACOB SAFULU did willfully, knowingly, and with malice aforethought inflict cruel or extreme pain for the purposes of revenge or persuasion by discharging a firearm three times at LUCRECIA LUCERO, a human being, thereby committing the crime of Mayhem, in violation of Penal Code Section 206, a felony.


Executed this day of December 8, 1993, at Los Angeles, California.
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Deputy Attorney General


Based on the forgoing complaint, and the Affidavit in Support of Arrest Warrant filed by Detective William Montero on December 7, 1993, I find there is probable cause for the issuance of a warrant of arrest for the above-named defendant(s).
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Judge of the Superior Court, State of California




OEBPS/images/logo.jpg





OEBPS/images/page39.jpg
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF

CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff,
v
OMAR ARMANDO TAVIRA, AKA
“WIZARD”
(0.0..07/30/1972)
JACOB AARON SAFULU, AKA
“DREAMER”
(0.0.5. 09/02/1976)
Defendant(s).

CASE No. I

FELONY COMPLAINT
FOR ARREST WARRANT





OEBPS/images/seen.jpg





OEBPS/images/page41a.jpg
WonF Oy





OEBPS/xhtml/toc.xhtml






		Cover



		Title page



		Contents



		Dedication page



		Epigraph page



		THE SYSTEM



		PROLOGUE

		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer







		PART I: THE CRIMES IN QUESTION

		Augustine Clark, a.k.a. Augie



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo







		PART II: DOCUMENTS FORMING THE BASIS FOR ARREST OF SUSPECTS

		AFFIDAVIT UNDER OATH



		SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES







		PART III: EVENTS LEADING TO ARREST OF SUSPECTS

		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Little, a.k.a. Little Guy



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Deputy Ivica “John” Mirkovich







		PART IV: IN CUSTODY

		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Detective Sergeant William “Willie” Montero



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Augustine Clark, a.k.a. Augie



		AHD Kristina Mirkovich



		Nick Park, Esq.



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer







		PART V: STONY PLACES

		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Little, a.k.a. Little Guy



		Angela Alvarez



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Hernán Garrido, a.k.a. No Neck



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Little, a.k.a. Little Guy



		Angela Alvarez



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Little, a.k.a. Little Guy



		AHD Kristina Mirkovich



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Angela Alvarez



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Little, a.k.a. Little Guy



		Lucrecia Lucero, a.k.a. Scrappy







		PART VI: AMONG THORNS

		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Nick Park, Esq.



		AHD Kristina Mirkovich



		Detective Sergeant William “Willie” Montero



		Lucrecia Lucero, a.k.a. Scrappy



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Little, a.k.a. Little Guy



		Hernán Garrido, a.k.a. No Neck



		Augustine Clark, a.k.a. Augie



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Angela Alvarez







		PART VII: WAYSIDE

		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Augustine Clark, a.k.a. Augie



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Dulce



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Angela Alvarez



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Dulce



		Nick Park, Esq.



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer







		PART VIII: THE TRIAL

		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		AHD Kristina Mirkovich



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Nick Park, Esq.



		Detective Sergeant William “Willie” Montero



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Augustine Clark, a.k.a. Augie



		AHD Kristina Mirkovich



		Nick Park, Esq.



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Angela Alvarez



		Nick Park, Esq.



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		AHD Kristina Mirkovich



		Detective Sergeant William “Willie” Montero



		Nick Park, Esq.



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Dulce



		Omar Tavira, a.k.a. Wizard



		Angela Alvarez



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer







		PART IX: SEEDS

		Angela Alvarez



		Parole Agent Phillip Petrillo



		Jacob Safulu, a.k.a. Dreamer



		Jeovanni Matta, a.k.a. Dulce



		Deputy Ivica “John” Mirkovich







		Glossary



		Acknowledgments



		Praise



		About the Author



		Also by Ryan Gattis





		Copyright page













Guide





    		Cover



    		Title page



    		Contents



    		PART I: THE CRIMES IN QUESTION











OEBPS/images/page38.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
RYAN GATTIS

‘Intelligent and ‘An utterly
utterly gripping’ riveting read’
Scotsman Guardian






OEBPS/images/page41.jpg
Ot T pinp





